Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Acta Astronautica

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/actaastro

Gaining deeper insight into the psychological challenges of human spaceflight: The role of motivational dynamics

Sophie Goemaere^{a,*}, Maarten Vansteenkiste^a, Stijn Van Petegem^{a,b}

^a Department of Developmental, Personality and Social Psychology, Ghent University, H. Dunantlaan 2, 9000 Gent, Belgium
^b Institute of Psychology, Quartier UNIL-Mouline, Bâtiment Géopolis, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 April 2015 Received in revised form 24 November 2015 Accepted 30 December 2015 Available online 8 January 2016

Keywords: Space psychology Self-Determination Theory Motivation

ABSTRACT

Past research in space psychology has produced a plethora of interesting findings with regard to the psychological stressors and benefits associated with human spaceflight. To help synthesize these rather scattered findings and to advance our theorizing about critical psychological phenomena and processes within the rapidly growing field of space psychology, the aim of this contribution is to approach them from the perspective of Self-Determination Theory (SDT; ¹ Ryan & Deci, 2000 [1]), a broad theory on human motivation and development. Specifically, we argue that the postulation of the psychological needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness within SDT allows for (1) a deeper understanding of reported psychological phenomena in current spaceflights and (2) the development of measures to alleviate the negative psychological stressors as well as to enhance the benefits associated with spaceflight.

© 2016 IAA. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction					
2.	Critica	Critical topics in space psychology				
	2.1.	Crew autonomy and bureaucracy				
	2.2.	Positive	reactions to spaceflight	. 132		
	2.3.	Conclus	ion	. 133		
	3.1.	Nutrien	ts of growth	. 134		
	3.2.	Manifes	tations of growth	. 135		
		3.2.1.	Intrinsic motivation	. 135		
		3.2.2.	Internalization	. 135		
		3.2.3.	Intrinsic life goals	. 136		
	3.3.	Summary				
4.	SDT aj	SDT applied to spaceflight				
	4.1.	How to	promote volitional functioning during spaceflight?	. 137		
		4.1.1.	Option and action choice	. 137		

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +32 9 264 64 15.

E-mail addresses: sophie.goemaere@ugent.be (G. Sophie), maarten.vansteenkiste@ugent.be (V. Maarten), stijn.vanpetegem@ugent.be, stijn.vanpetegem@unil.ch (V.P. Stijn).

¹ Self-Determination Theory.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actaastro.2015.12.055 0094-5765/© 2016 IAA. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.



Review





		4.1.2. 4.1.3.	Meaningful rationale for monitoring Effective feedback	138 138	
	4.2.	How to	promote the beneficial effects of spaceflight?	139	
		4.2.1.	Challenges and celebrations	139	
		4.2.2.	Personalization of space	139	
		4.2.3.	Connection with Earth	139	
		4.2.4.	Individual differences	140	
5.	Conclusions				
	Refere	ences		140	

1. Introduction

With the launch of Yuri Gagarin on April 12, 1961, the first man in space, a brand new field in human sciences was born: space psychology. Since then, a substantial amount of research has been conducted to reveal the personal and interpersonal stressors astronauts face when in outer space. In fact, the field of space psychology has been rapidly evolving, thereby producing a number of interesting insights into a broad diversity of phenomena [2,3]. Unfortunately, the findings of these studies remain somewhat disconnected and rather descriptive in nature, thereby lacking a strong theoretical foundation that would allow for greater synthesis between them and for a deeper understanding of their underlying psychological dynamics. Therefore, at this point, the field may benefit from the reliance on an overarching theoretical framework, which would allow for a more unified, coherent, and efficient development of ongoing and future research.

One theory that is ideally suited to fill this void in the literature is Self-Determination Theory (SDT) [1,4], a broad theory on human motivation, development, and wellbeing. The theory has received wide-spread attention and has been used as a source of inspiration to study the motivational functioning, thriving, and well-being of individuals in diverse life domains, including health care, parenting, education, and environmental sciences, to name a few [5].

Central to SDT is the assumption of the existence of three inherent, psychological needs, that is, the need for autonomy (i.e., experiencing a sense of volition), the need for competence (i.e., experiencing a sense of effectiveness) and the need for relatedness (i.e., experiencing a sense of warmth). The satisfaction of these needs on a day-to-day basis is integral to individuals' well-being and flourishing, while also serving as a source of resilience against adversity [6,7]. Herein, we forward and develop the broader argument that the satisfaction of these psychological needs is equally critical for astronauts' well-being and performance and that their support will be of utmost importance during future Mars missions. In fact, as we are entering a new and fairly unknown era of human spaceflight, which is bound to yield new psychological challenges, a more holistic view on astronauts' functioning is likely to be helpful in formulating predictions about the future psychological challenges for a Mars crew.

The present review consists of three parts. In part one, we briefly discuss two critical topics within space psychology, namely crew autonomy and the beneficial effects of spaceflight, a topic that gained attention under the influence of the positive psychology movement. We opted for these two topics for a number of reasons, including the increasing attention they receive among space psychologists and space agencies [2], the conceptual confusion surrounding the notion of autonomy which can be resolved by taking an SDT-perspective [8,9], the natural fit between the positive psychology movement and SDT, and the fact that both topics are of crucial importance for future interplanetary travel [2,8]. Many other topics in space psychology could have been addressed, such as the issue of social isolation (e.g., [10]), family support (e.g., [11]) and crew-ground communications (e.g., [12]), to name a few. However, space limitations required us to be selective. In part two, we discuss a number of critical principles of SDT which set the foundation for part three. that is, the elucidation of the theoretical potential and applied value of SDT for the field of space psychology. Specifically, we will discuss how SDT's notion of psychological need satisfaction and its differentiated view on human motivation enable us to shed more light on the question of crew autonomy and the beneficial effects of spaceflight.

2. Critical topics in space psychology

2.1. Crew autonomy and bureaucracy

A topic of great discussion among space agencies is the question of crew autonomy. This issue concerns the decision-making authority of the flight crew, and is differentiated from the concept of autonomy as conceived within the framework of SDT, as will be discussed in Section 4.1. There is a tendency, especially in Western space agencies, to restrict the decision-making authority of the flight crew through a variety of detailed regulatory procedures [8,9,13,14]. The ISS crew, for instance, operates under a very strict set of rules and guidelines due to a combination of increasing bureaucratic demands and safety regulations imposed on astronauts. To illustrate, today's astronauts on the ISS cannot decide on their daily work schedule as their daily activities are completely planned by mission control on the ground and every change needs to be reported and evaluated by an expert team on Earth. Although mission control is sometimes willing to take astronauts' preferences into account, they generally are allowed little input and merely seem to be treated as "executive personnel", "extensions of ISS" or "lab workers" (e.g. [8], p. 925).

Yet, on the rare occasions that mission control takes astronauts' preferences into account, this seems to be very welcomed. As an example, ESA astronaut Frank De Winne's approved request to perform his physical exercises in two separate instead of two consecutive hours was greatly appreciated by him [15]. A further illustration is the following excerpt, which exemplifies how a successful autonomous decision made by the flight crew can produce inherent satisfaction and contentment. Frank De Winne, who was responsible for a technical maintenance on the ISS, shares the following experience: "Friday I had to replace a technical unit in the Columbus lab. When I wanted to place the spare unit. I noticed that eighteen screws were missing. Those were not ordinary screws, they are the kind that you can loosen without them floating around. Without warning mission control I found a way to remove the screws from the old unit, to place them in the new one and to install the new unit. This was not easy since as we do not have a workbench to do this in a comfortable way. But it worked. Then I told mission control and they were guite pleased with the result. They did not have to find a solution anymore. When they do have to, it can easily take up two to three days because everything needs to be checked by everyone. Meanwhile, the astronauts have to clean up the whole mess so all that work and time would have been useless. By taking initiative I saved a lot of time. But of course, if something had gone wrong, I would have been at fault for not having warned mission control. The astronaut would have done it!" ([15], p. 101). Unfortunately, these sorts of anecdotal examples of the work schedule seem to be fairly rare. Astronauts are strongly recommended if not pressured to stick to an imposed work schedule, which is based upon strict bureaucratic rules and safety regulations. Moreover, any change in the tight work schedule requires a considerable amount of time and effort for mission control. For these reasons, it is very difficult for astronauts to deviate from the assigned work schedules. Indeed, some anecdotal reports hint at the frustration that emerges from the mere executive role assigned to astronauts [2,15].

Another aspect of restricted crew autonomy is the fact that astronauts are under constant audio and video surveillance by mission control when performing their duties. These audio and video channels are actively monitored by mission control members and payload operators on the ground, and are readily available to the public via the NASA website. Despite the managing and reassuring functions these surveillance measures can have, one cannot ignore their evaluative and pressuring effect on the crew.

Despite astronauts' desire to exercise more authority in their daily activities, Western space agencies remain reluctant to train their flight crew to take such autonomous decisions. To some extent, this is understandable. If astronauts make decisions during dangerous operations and emergency situations, for which they are not trained and without informing mission control, it may create an atmosphere of distrust. Moreover, such personal decision making may yield considerable risks, not only for the psychological well-being of the astronauts themselves, but also for the successful completion of the overall mission. On the other hand, the complete lack of transfer of decision-making power to astronauts is surprising. Especially with respect to rather small or routine tasks, taking personal initiative and seeking solutions without informing mission control may not pose a problem.

Also, the communication delay between the Earth and Mars during a Mars mission almost necessitates the partial transfer of the decision-making power to a Mars crew. Interestingly, instead of granting increasing decisionmaking power to astronauts, scientists have been searching for different solutions. That is, to provide flight support despite the absence of direct communication, some scientists are developing computer-interactive intervention programs that can assess the crew's cognitive and emotional state and provide them with prevention and intervention information for potential psychological issues [2,3] or are proposing remote crew monitoring by audio recordings of crew interactions [16]. Thus, rather than taking the more limited possibilities for communication during Mars missions as an opportunity and springboard to strengthen the crew's autonomy, technical solutions are sought so as to secure continued monitoring and the associated minimal input of astronauts. This has raised alarm among several Russian cosmonauts and space experts. Kalery, Sorokin, and Tyurin [8], for instance, argued that, due to the increased focus on such technical solutions, the ISS's primary objectives are being overlooked, that is, being on the front edge of science and technology in the exploration of the unknown, and targeting the crew's ability to act autonomously, display initiative and sustain logical and technical adequacy during spaceflight.

2.2. Positive reactions to spaceflight

Traditionally, the major concerns of space agencies involve the avoidance or reduction of the negative psychological consequences of spaceflight. Hence, psychological knowledge was mainly used for the selection of a crew capable of functioning under stressful conditions and for the development of countermeasures to diminish the psychological hazards of spaceflight [2,14]. However, Suedfeld [17] highlighted that an exclusive focus on the negative aspects of spaceflight, such as astronauts' stress and social isolation, fails to explain the manifold positive reactions experienced by astronauts. If space is such a stressful environment, why do thousands of individuals apply to become astronauts? Why are experienced astronauts often eager to return to outer space? To resolve this seeming paradox, the concept of *salutogenesis*, which was previously studied in other contexts [18,19], was introduced within space psychology. Salutogenesis refers to individuals' ability to emerge from stressful experiences with increased psychological or even physiological resistance to future stressors [17].

The process of salutogenesis in extreme environments has mainly been studied through individuals' value shifts during spaceflight (e.g., [20,21,22]), polar expeditions (e.g., [23,24]) or space simulations (e.g., [13,25]). In one study on the beneficial effects of spaceflight, Ihle, Ritsher and Kanas [26,27] developed the Positive Effects of Being in Space (PEBS) questionnaire, which is based on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory [28], a valid and reliable measure of positive personal growth that can occur following stressful events. This questionnaire was administered to 39 astronauts to identify several positive changes resulting from being in outer space. Overall, all respondents reported at least some change, with the greatest change being found for the subscale Perceptions of Earth and Perceptions of Space. Some of these changes were so profound that they even led to behavioral change, such as increased environmental activism. Interestingly, also Changes in Daily Life were reported, with, for instance, a majority of respondents indicating that their relationship with their family grew stronger. Yet, cluster analysis revealed that individuals vary considerably in their specific positive reactions to spaceflight, with some of them reporting considerable and others minimal change, an issue that deserves further exploration.

Other studies have found similar results, including an increase in the appreciation of the unity of mankind and an increase in self-confidence accompanied by a sense of accomplishment and satisfaction from spaceflight [14,20,21] and polar expeditions [24]. In general, these results show changes primarily in the direction of more concern with humanity and the planet, implying a more open-minded and caring orientation toward the collective good rather than benefits to oneself [22].

Given the enthusiastic reports by space travelers, some authors have described countermeasures that astronauts developed themselves to highlight the positive experiences of outer space. For instance, Johnson [29] has described four ways by which astronauts transform their sterile environment into a new home. First, astronauts fill their free time with a variety of meaningful and interesting activities, such as looking at the Earth and identifying various sites and personally relevant places, but also activities such as reading, watching movies, sketching or taking photographs. Second, Johnson [29] highlighted the necessity of making daily activities fun as to nurture the psychological health of astronauts. Humor plays an important role in this and in some situation helps to smooth crew-ground interactions. According to many astronauts, practical jokes, playful interactions and experimenting with food are common practice on the ISS, and help to alleviate the burdens of daily activities. Third, space traditions have been extensively observed, especially in Russian spacefaring, but have also found their way to the ISS in the form of handover ceremonies when there is, for instance, a change of command. Celebrations of space activities include specific space history landmarks that occurred during their time on the station (e.g., the anniversary of the first man launched into space), personal landmarks of the crew (e.g., breaking a previous record of time in space), and recognitions of a job well done (e.g., Extra-Vehicular Activity). These are usually celebrated with a special meal that has been especially selected for the occasion. Finally, communication with, and thoughts about friends and family have helped to close the gap between home on Earth and outer space. Contact with loved-ones, either through direct audio or video messaging, regular updates on news from home and care packages were viewed positively by all astronauts, as it elicited the feeling they were involved in the daily life of their friends and families.

Overall, two conclusions can be drawn from these first studies. First, they suggest that positive reactions to human spaceflight are a fairly common instead of a rare experience. Second, these positive experiences may play an important role not only in safeguarding astronauts against experiencing ill-being, but they may even have a health-enhancing effect. Despite these findings, many researchers remain concerned with the fact that space agencies and space psychologists primarily focus on the negative effects of spaceflight, and do not pay sufficient attention to the beneficial long-term after-effects of spaceflight [13,14,30]. As a consequence, very little is known about how these benefits come about and how they can be promoted through the development of particular measures.

2.3. Conclusion

When considering the topics of crew autonomy and the positive effects of spaceflight, it is interesting to note that, although several studies described these phenomena in detail, little is understood about their underlying psychological dynamics. Such lack of deep understanding prevents us from developing effective countermeasures aimed at alleviating the detrimental effects of reduced crew autonomy and harvesting the favorable effects of spaceflight on psychological well-being.

Additionally, sending humans to Mars brings forward a series of potential new hazards, the effects of which remain difficult to study on Earth [2]. With this unknown era of human spaceflight ahead, it is timely to borrow and further develop ideas from other research areas of psychology. Indeed, as current knowledge of space psychology may have reached its limits when it comes to Mars missions, a more holistic view on human functioning could provide helpful predictions about potential psychological challenges and countermeasures during an interplanetary mission.

The question then arises which theoretical framework could shed some light on current issues in space psychology and allow for the formulation of predictions about future psychological challenges of a Mars mission? When looking for such a framework, several criteria need to be taken into consideration. One has to look for:

- A theory embedded in positive psychology, meaning the theory not only focuses on the avoidance or reduction of ill-being, but also on the nurturance of well-being and its underlying processes.
- A theory that is universal, that can be applied across cultures, age, educational level, and gender.
- A theory that is strongly evidence-based and that has been studied and implemented successfully across several life domains and settings.
- A theory that can provide specific predictions and countermeasures to reduce the stressful aspect of missions, while at the same time nurturing astronauts' psychological well-being.

When reviewing current psychological knowledge, the Self-Determination Theory [31] seems to be a good fit for these criteria.

3. Self-Determination Theory

3.1. Nutrients of growth

Self-Determination Theory is a macro theory of human motivation, behavior, and well-being [1,32], which investigates people's innate psychological needs that are at the basis of their motivation and personality integration, as well as the conditions that foster those positive processes. The theory can be used to make predictions about the way social environments can be designed to optimize people's development, performance and well-being. SDT is strongly embedded in positive psychology, as the theory helps to explain how people's natural tendency for growth and learning can be enhanced and elevated [33,34]. At the same time, it accounts for ill-being and maladaptive behavior by regarding them as outcomes of encountered frustration of these same psychological needs. In doing so, SDT goes beyond most positive psychological theories because it provides a dialectic account of both the positive and negative processes in human development [1,6].

According to SDT, people have three inherent psychological needs: competence, relatedness and autonomy.

- When people experience *competence*, they feel effective and successful in dealing with the environment. It is the belief that one has the ability to influence important outcomes.
- 2. When people experience *relatedness*, they feel connected and experience care for important others, through satisfying, supportive social relationships.
- 3. When people experience *autonomy*, they experience a sense of personal choice, volition and psychological freedom, through acting upon personally endorsed values and interests.

Different from other motivational frameworks, including the Motive Disposition Perspective, ² which consider the needs to be personal preferences acquired through different childhood experiences [40]. SDT considers these needs to be inherent and universal. Also, whereas other frameworks focus on interpersonal differences in the strength of needs, SDT focuses on the very satisfaction of these needs. The argument is forwarded that the satisfaction of the psychological needs for competence, relatedness and autonomy would yield benefits regardless of people's cultural background, gender and socio-economic status. These needs are not merely theoretical constructs; they were proposed in an attempt to meaningfully interpret a wealth of findings obtained in studies relying on a variety of study designs, making use of diverse methodologies, and sampling participants differing in age, educational and cultural background [31].

Across these studies, satisfaction of the needs for relatedness, autonomy and competence have been found to foster well-being and development, and are therefore considered essential nutrients of growth (e.g., [41,42]), while the very frustration of these needs engenders passivity, alienation, or even opposition (e.g., [43]). To the extent that astronauts volitionally engage in daily activities, experience a sense of mutual care with the ground crew and other astronauts, and feel effective in dealing with the challenges they encounter, they are more likely to thrive. Although no single empirical study has provided empirical support for this claim among astronauts, abundant research in diverse populations has provided evidence for the benefits associated with need satisfaction and the costs associated with need frustration (see e.g., [1,6]). For instance, in the work domain, research has shown that employees who experience greater need satisfaction report feeling less exhausted and more engaged in their job [44].

Further, a variety of methods have been used to study people's experienced need satisfaction and need frustration. Within the SDT tradition, the assessment of need satisfaction or frustration is usually done by self-report. For instance, participants are asked whether they feel effective in executing their daily activities (competence), whether they feel connected to others (relatedness) and whether they feel pressured to do certain things (autonomy; e.g., [41]). Apart from explicit self-reports, nowadays scholars are developing a number of implicit measures to tap into need satisfaction as well (e.g., [45]). Additionally, to document the consequences of need satisfaction or frustration, several measures other than self-reports have been used to assess health, motivation, performance and behavior, such as teacher-rated school adjustment of children (e.g., [46]), free choice persistence (e.g., [47]), or peaks in cortisol secretion (e.g., [48]), to name a few [6].

Overall, from existing evidence we can conclude that individuals from different socio-economic and cultural backgrounds, different ages and genders benefit from need satisfaction (e.g., [41]). Increasingly, scholars (e.g., [49,50,51]) have examined whether the benefits of need satisfaction also emerge for those being low in the strength of these needs, as suggested from the Motive Disposition Perspective. It appears that the benefits of need satisfaction are more pronounced for those with a greater strength of these needs. Yet, this moderation effect appears only for implicit measures (e.g., [51]), and not for explicit measures of need strength (e.g., [41]).

As for the contextual support and undermining of the psychological needs, different methodologies have also been used. To illustrate, in experimental studies, the degree of need thwarting has been experimentally manipulated by

² The connection between SDT and the Motives Disposition Theory [35,36] has gained increasing attention in recent years. Although these theories deal with closely related topics, the psychological needs are defined differently (see [31] for a more extensive discussion). The motive for affiliation is defined as the preference for warm, intimate relationships and is similar to the need for relatedness. However, whereas the need for competence involves the experience of a sense of effectiveness and mastery in dealing with the environment, the motive to succeed involves the recurrent desire to surpass standards of excellence [37,38]. The need for autonomy differs from the motive to exert power [39]. Most motive researchers regard the need for power as the desire to influence others in order to feel strong. In contrast, the need for autonomy reflects an individual's need to experience willingness and voluntariness in his actions [38].



Fig. 1. Graphic overview of growth model of Self-Determination Theory [1,57].

creating conditions where people are approached in cold and dismissive ways (frustrating relatedness; e.g., [52]), are given judgmental feedback (frustrating competence; e.g., [53]) or are subjected to pressuring deadlines, evaluations and monitoring (frustrating autonomy; e.g., [54]). In other experimental studies, people are shown care and made to feel welcome (fostering relatedness; e.g. [52]), they are provided with constructive feedback (fostering competence; e.g., [55]) or they are involved in the decision-making procedures (fostering autonomy; e.g., [56]). To the extent that individuals' needs got supported, they reported enhanced engagement and well-being, continued persistence and improved performance, while they were more likely to defy or give up in need-thwarting circumstances.

3.2. Manifestations of growth

Apart from documenting the well-being and performance benefits of the satisfaction of these psychological needs, SDT has also specified the processes through which these effects accrue. That is, need satisfaction is said to fuel three different growth manifestations, all of which are relevant for the functioning of astronauts. As can be noticed in Fig. 1, these three growth manifestations concern the processes of (a) intrinsic motivation, (b) internalization, and (c) intrinsic goal pursuit [1,57].

3.2.1. Intrinsic motivation

Intrinsic motivation is described as the inherent assimilative tendency to seek out novelty and challenges, to extend and exercise one's capacities, and to explore one's inner and outer environment driven by curiosity [58] (cfr. Fig. 1). When intrinsically motivated, people engage in the activity for its own sake as the reward lies in the satisfaction inherent to or spontaneously following from the activity itself. For instance, when intrinsically motivated, people find their jobs to be interesting and enjoyable and they may even be passionate [59].

Astronauts who express excitement at the prospect of going into space to discover new things can be described as intrinsically motivated. Although individuals cannot be forced to enjoy and be interested in an activity, a social environment that supports individuals' needs for autonomy and competence has been shown to awaken and nurture intrinsic motivation and passion in individuals. Indeed, to the extent that individuals are offered choice (e.g., [60]) and provided sincere, competence-affirming feedback [55,61], they are more likely to develop an interest in the activity at hand. In contrast, the use of autonomy-suppressing and pressuring language (e.g., [62]) and criticism (e.g., [63]) have been found to forestall need satisfaction and subsequent intrinsic motivation. Relatedness satisfaction is said to play a more distal role in the nurturing of intrinsic motivation [31], as individuals can also enjoy engaging in leisure time activities by themselves. Indeed, astronauts may like to have some free time reserved for themselves, without much interaction with other crewmembers.

3.2.2. Internalization

Rather unfortunately, much of what people do is not intrinsically motivated. That is, many of our daily activities are not interesting, yet they are important to do. This is also true for astronauts, who may feel little challenge and interest in executing (some) routine activities. Does this imply that astronauts by definition feel pressured to execute such activities? No. To the extent that they have come to endorse or internalize the reasons for performing the activity, they are more likely to perform these activities with a greater sense of willingness.

In this respect, SDT differentiates between different types of extrinsic motivation, depending on the degree to which internalization has occurred [1]. Thereby, *internalization* refers to the adoption and full acceptance (i.e., endorsement) of an initially externally offered value or behavioral regulation. Internalization is high when people perceive the selfimportance and personal value of a specific activity. In this case, people are said to be autonomously motivated as they engage in the activity with a sense of volition, willingness and ownership of their behavior (cfr. Fig. 1). In contrast, when people engage in an activity because they feel externally pressured to do so (e.g., to avoid criticism or to gain appreciation) or to meet internal feelings of pressure (e.g., to avoid feelings of guilt, shame or to attain self-aggrandization), their actions are said to be regulated by controlling forces. In the case of controlled motivation, no or only partial internalization has occurred.

The satisfaction of all three needs is said to be integral for the internalization and full endorsement of activities. Indeed, requests that are formulated by significant others to whom one feels strongly attached are more likely to be accepted. Similarly, one is more likely to internalize the introduced requests when one feels efficacious in executing them. Yet, full internalization is only achieved when a sense of psychological freedom and autonomy need satisfaction is experienced [31,63]. Indeed, one may comply with instructions and effectively carry out activities out of a sense of conflicted loyalty vis-à-vis the person introducing the request. Yet, only when this request is formulated in an autonomy-supportive way, for instance, by allowing a person to voice their opinion or by explaining the importance of the task at hand, one is more likely to fully endorse the reason for performing the activity [64].

At this point, it is crucial to clarify the exact meaning of autonomy as conceived within the framework of SDT. In SDT, autonomy is not equated with *independence*, that is, as making decisions without reliance on external guidance. Instead, autonomy is defined as self-endorsement, which pertains to the degree to which one fully concurs with the reasons or motives underlying one's actions, such that one's actions are grounded in authentic values and interests [63,65]. In other words, autonomy does not relate to the locus of decision-making (i.e., Who is making the decision?), which varies from total independence (i.e., without relying on anyone) to total dependence (i.e., completely giving away ownership of the decision). Instead, autonomy relates to the motives for making decisions independently or dependently (i.e., Why is the decision made independently, or why is the decision given to someone else?) [66]. Although independent decisionmaking would grant more opportunities for the enactment and realization of one's self-endorsed convictions and interests (thereby contributing to a sense of volition and inner psychological freedom), autonomy satisfaction can also be experienced in a state of dependence, if the motives for the dependent behavior have been internalized [67]. Fig. 2 provides a graphical overview of this idea as the dimension of independent relative to dependent functioning are crossed with the autonomous and controlled motives underlying these behaviors. When mission control grants astronauts the freedom to make independent decisions or when it provides astronauts with support and guidance on request, then mission control can be said to promote, respectively, independence and dependence in a volitional (autonomous) fashion (i.e., the upper left and lower left quadrant). Similarly, mission control can also promote dependence either in a volitional (i.e., the lower left quadrant) or in a controlling fashion (i.e., the lower right quadrant). When autonomy is operationally differentiated from independence, it has been shown to be positively related to psychological well-being, even in collectivistic cultures (e.g. [66]).

3.2.3. Intrinsic life goals

SDT is also concerned with the differential content of types of life goals that people pursue [68]. Intrinsic goals, such as community contribution, self-development, and universalism (i.e. the promotion of welfare for all humankind and the natural environment [69]), are goals that are inherently satisfying because they are more conducive to individuals' need satisfaction [70,71]. Extrinsic goals, such as financial success, physical appearance, and image, are oriented towards external valuation because they require the contingent reaction of others and are therefore more likely to be at odds with the satisfaction of one's basic psychological needs [71].

The satisfaction of the psychological needs is not only said to follow from the content of one's pursued life goals, but it also said to be rooted in a different degree of encountered need satisfaction. Specifically, when people experience need satisfaction, they are likely better in touch with their personal values and goals, and they therefore likely attach greater importance to intrinsic life goals. In contrast, when people experience need frustration, they become more likely to pursue extrinsic goals, as the approval of others would constitute a way to gain some sense of worth so as to compensate for encountered need frustration [72].

This idea is supported by several empirical studies. Indeed, individuals were found to be especially oriented towards extrinsic life goals when growing up in social environments that undermine growth and need satisfaction, such as in a cold and controlling family [73,74], in situations where people feel threatened [75] or are made to feel insecure and self-doubt [76], and when family socio-economic status is low [77]. By contrast, individuals growing up in need-supportive contexts were found to be much more oriented towards intrinsic life goals (e.g., [78]).

Interestingly, some studies suggested that natural environments can also promote the valuation of intrinsic life goals and even engender greater vitality. For instance, experimental studies have demonstrated that people who were immersed in a natural environment (either simulated or real) reported an increased pursuit of intrinsic aspirations, greater vitality, and engaging in more generous behavior, when compared to people exposed to nonnatural environments [79,80]. The authors suggested that natural environments may foster experiences of autonomy and connectedness with nature. Specifically, nature can nurture autonomy directly by affording stimulating sensations and opportunities to integrate experience by encouraging introspection and a coherent sense of self, and indirectly by providing an alternative to the pressures of everyday life.

Not only does need satisfaction predict people's orientation towards intrinsic life goals, but numerous studies across life domains (e.g., exercising, school, relationships, work) and in diverse age samples (e.g., adolescents, adults, seniors) have revealed that both the pursuit and the attainment of intrinsic goals, relative to extrinsic goals, is associated with greater health, well-being, and performance (for a review, see [4,81]). Indeed, a recent meta-analysis by

Independence versus Dependence

Independent Functioning Astronauts feel Astronauts feel encouraged and pressured by mission confident to set up control to act their own work independently. The schedule. If needed, crew is expected to they can receive more make decisions for support and guidance which they are from mission control at insufficiently trained. any time. Supportive They experience a lack monitoring and of guidance and support Autonomy-Supportive versus Controlling feedback of their from mission control. Supportive monitoring performance by mission control is and feedback of the crew's performance is likewise available on Autonomy reauest not readily available. Autonomy Supportive. Inhibiting, Non The work schedule for Astronauts feel Controlling Controlling the flight crew is set up pressured to abide by by mission control, yet strict work schedules astronauts concur with and far-reaching the schedule. The flight monitoring measures crew is under from mission control. monitoring by mission The reasons for control, for which they monitoring are unclear have been given a and feedback consists meaningful rationale. mainly of criticism after After task completion, poor performance mission control offers These measures are the crew the possibility experienced by the crew to receive feedback of as restrictive and their performance. evaluative. Dependent Functioning Independence versus Dependence

Fig. 2. Graphic overview of the distinction between independence and autonomy dimensions as applied to the interaction between astronauts and mission control (adapted from Soenens and Vansteenkiste [96]).

Dittmar, Bond, Hurst and Kasser [82] provided further confirmatory evidence for this claim.

It is important to note that intrinsic and extrinsic aspirations are distinct from autonomous and controlled extrinsic motivation, since both intrinsic and extrinsic goals can be pursued for either autonomous or controlled reasons. Although intrinsic goals usually tend to be pursued for autonomous reasons and extrinsic goals tend to be pursued for controlled reasons, the content of, and reasons for pursuing aspirations can be crossed. This was done in a longitudinal study by Sheldon, Ryan, Deci and Kasser [81] in which the authors assessed participant's goal content ('what' they aspire), their motives for doing so ('why' they aspire) and their well-being. They found that both goal content and motives significantly predicted wellbeing, after controlling for each-other. Beyond the fact that extrinsic goals are often pursued for controlled motives, and that controlled motivation is predictive of ill-being, it appears that people's intrinsic aspirations positively affect their subsequent well-being.

3.3. Summary

Autonomy-support versus Controlling

In conclusion, SDT postulates three basic psychological needs that are inherent and universal. Dozens of studies have confirmed that satisfaction of the needs for relatedness, autonomy and competence fosters well-being, while the frustration of these very same needs engenders passivity, alienation or even opposition. Need satisfaction yields these desirable outcomes because it forms the impetus for the actualization of three growth manifestations, that is, the engagement in enjoyable, challenging and interesting activities (i.e., intrinsic motivation), the full endorsement of external requests (i.e., internalization), and the pursuit of inherently valuable goals, such as selfdevelopment, community contribution and universalism (i.e., intrinsic goal pursuit).

4. SDT applied to spaceflight

Having reviewed a number of central theoretical constructs within SDT, we now turn to the application of SDT to the topics of crew autonomy and the positive effects of spaceflight. As will be argued, the satisfaction of the needs for relatedness, competence and autonomy and the growth manifestations it engenders, may play an important role in human spaceflight.

4.1. How to promote volitional functioning during spaceflight?

Much of the flight crew's work consists of routine, monotonous or unpleasant tasks, such as cleaning, maintenance tasks, physical exercise and medically invasive or monotonous experimental tasks. From the SDT-perspective, such tasks can be described as being low in intrinsic motivation. Yet, the degree of willingness to perform these non-enjoyable activities among astronauts will depend on the internalization of the reasons underlying their execution. Clearly, astronauts who went through very strict and demanding selection procedures are presumably highly motivated and willing to put effort into their profession. Yet, the way their ongoing daily activities are regulated by mission control will engender variable degrees of need satisfaction and need frustration and yield resulting consequences for the ownership of their daily behavior. In fact, it seems that the tendency in Western space agencies to increase bureaucracy, flight rules and safety regulations may hamper astronauts' need satisfaction. For such a highly trained and capable flight crew, this type of work environment may even thwart their need to feel volitional and competent in their activities. In an attempt to resist these need-thwarts, astronauts may make independent decisions without informing mission control so as to establish their autonomy. Yet, such independent decision making is not volitional, but rather reactive and, hence, controlled in nature. That is, it reflects a form of opposition, which has been found to result from the frustration of the needs for autonomy and competence [43]. Perhaps, although not necessarily deliberate, it is a way for the crew to attempt to regain a sense of freedom and efficacy. Despite the constraints of the environment, from an SDTperspective, mission control can steer astronauts in more motivating and need-supportive ways. Specifically, the flight crew could (a) be granted action choice and option choice in their daily tasks [60,83]. However, even in situations of high dependency, mission control can still take autonomy-supportive measures, for instance by (b) explaining why they monitor astronaut's behavior, and by (c) providing effective and competence enhancing feedback.

4.1.1. Option and action choice

Although many space experts are dreading the increase in crew independence that is bound to happen for interplanetary travel, and fear for the potential threat of an isolated independent crew [2], SDT actually suggests that an increase in crew independence could provide new opportunities for the crew to feel more competent and volitional, by letting the flight crew choose which tasks to perform (option choice). These opportunities to choose between options generally facilitates the perception of choice and, hence, a sense of autonomy or willingness. However, in cases where tasks have been assigned to crewmembers, they can still be given choice within the task (action choice), by for example deciding the timing and pace according to their preferences, which is likewise expected to increase autonomy.

Unfortunately, only a few pilot studies have provided preliminary support for the positive effects of an increase in crew choice. Specifically, a simulation study by Kanas et al. [84] showed that an increase in crew action choice was well-received by the crewmembers, while no adverse effects were observed and mission goals were generally accomplished. Other studies provided evidence for the importance of choice for improved mood, personal discovery, and innovation. For instance, Roma et al. [85] reported that when members were free to choose the way they performed their tasks (cfr. action choice), they showed better performance, less negative emotions, more socially-referent language and lower levels of salivary cortisol production. Similarly, Sandal, Bye, and van de Vijver [25] found that the Mars 500 crewmembers' perceptions of stress decreased when they were allowed greater option choice. They described the reduction in contact with mission control as "a relief", resulting in a calmer atmosphere and decreased on-board tension. Overall, these studies suggest that an increase in the crew's volitional functioning, either through option or action choice, may enhance their well-being and performance, as predicted by SDT.

Of course, a number of critical questions remain. First, initial studies [85] also suggest that there might be cultural differences in the enactment of autonomy. From an SDT-perspective, this is no surprise. That is, the route to the experience of volition may be – at least to some extent – culture-bound. While astronauts from Western and individualistic nations may experience a greater sense of volition through independent decision making, astronauts from Eastern and collectivistic nations may achieve a greater sense of volition by acting dependently, that is, by complying with guidelines and instructions [66,86]. However, in spite of their elevated dependency, astronauts from collectivistic nations would not benefit from pressure!

Second, when space experts talk about the inevitable future increase in crew autonomy, from an SDT-perspective, they are actually talking about crew independence, i.e. the crew acting and taking decisions independently from mission control (see Fig. 2). What ultimately matters from the SDT-perspective is whether such dependent or independent behavior is being forced upon astronauts, or whether it is being volitionally enacted by them. More research is needed to identify the appropriate degree of afforded crew independence. This will likely be determined by circumstantial elements, such as the difficulty and risks associated with the task at hand, whether the activity belongs to astronauts' personal territory or domain and the presence of technical and physical restrictions. For instance, when tasks are more difficult, when more risks are associated and when technical or physical restrictions are present, astronauts' independent functioning is restrained. Instead, with respect to more personal issues (e.g., leisure time activities), they may be granted more choice and independence. Likewise, when astronauts are highly experienced with a certain task, the guidance may be less desirable as continued instruction may signal distrust to the astronauts, and therefore may be experienced as controlling and autonomy-suppressing. In other words, the ongoing support of astronauts' psychological needs essentially is about being sensitive about how and to whom certain tasks are presented, and about building in different degrees of choice. Such sensitivity requires mission control personnel to take the frame of reference of the astronaut as to estimate whether the task fits the astronaut's interest and expertize level.

Finally, crewmembers will need to be properly trained for an increase in crew independent decision making, preferably during actual space missions. The increase in independence can be a gradual process, in part because astronauts currently lack the routine of making their own decisions, in part because some choices made may yield considerable risks for which they may be made accountable. To facilitate this process, mission control could start by involving flight crew in decision-making processes. Their opinions should be heard and action could be taken in mutual agreement. By doing so, astronauts can regain a sense of volition, and will be better able to internalize the rationales behind their daily tasks, thus creating the possibility to enhance autonomous motivation and psychological well-being. Over time, astronauts could then be granted greater decision-making power over more difficult decisions involving greater risks. This evolution should not be dreaded but rather viewed as an opportunity for the crew to become more strongly engaged. The ISS could be used to simulate an expedition to Mars, as has been suggested by several authors already [3,8,87].

4.1.2. Meaningful rationale for monitoring

Even in situations where no possibilities for either option or action choice are available, as is often the case in present-day ISS missions, astronauts can be approached in an autonomy-supportive way. Critical in this respect is that the astronauts' frame of reference is maximally supported, for instance, by fully recognizing the irritation that may arise from being denied choice and input. Also, the provision of a meaningful rationale for introduced instructions or ongoing monitoring is critical. As for the monitoring by mission control, astronauts perform their tasks under constant audio and video surveillance. Surveillance as such is often viewed as fairly controlling and evaluative, with resulting implications for individuals' sense of autonomy and intrinsic motivation [88]. This effect may even be enhanced among astronauts given astronauts' videotaped behavior is made readily available to a broader public. The added value of such public monitoring for astronauts' daily functioning can be questioned, as it may increase pressure and even elicit anxiety. This does not imply that astronauts' behavior should not be monitored at all, yet, the way of doing so yields differential motivational implications.

In one informative experimental study, Enzle and Anderson [54] experimentally varied the reason for monitoring participants' behavior so as to impact the perceived meaning of the monitoring. That is, the monitoring can be perceived as more informational and helpful or rather evaluative and pressuring [89], with resulting consequences for individuals' need satisfaction and their willingness to comply with the requests of the surveilling individual. Specifically, in the Enzle and Anderson study [54], participants were told that the aim of monitoring their behavior was either to ensure that participants would strictly comply with the instructions and to evaluate their performance (i.e., evaluative monitoring) or they were told that they were being watched out of pure curiosity, that is, to see how they were handling the tasks (i.e., informational monitoring). So, both groups of participants were monitored, yet, those in the evaluative monitoring group not only lost their interest in the activity when compared to participants in the informational monitoring group, but also when compared to the group who were not provided any rationale at all. Therefore, it is crucial for mission control to pay careful attention to the specific intent of monitoring measures and to explicitly provide the crew with informational and supportive rationales for surveillance. In this way, astronauts may come to better understand the necessity for continued monitoring and show less signs of resistance.

4.1.3. Effective feedback

Abundant research has demonstrated the importance of feedback for the satisfaction of individuals' need for competence [55,90]. Positive feedback provides individuals with affirmative feedback regarding their capabilities and may boost their confidence to handle future challenges. However, the provision of corrective feedback, that is, feedback that is provided in response to lower performance or mistakes, is inevitable, as it is inherently tied with the learning process. Corrective feedback needs to be distinguished from negative feedback. Whereas negative feedback focuses on the end result and on the astronauts' failure to achieve a certain outcome, corrective feedback focuses more on the process itself and the way individuals can remedy their task performance.

Given that crew-ground conversations are monitored by thousands of people, the provision of authentic and honest feedback can be fairly challenging, especially if this information yields messages of failure. Nevertheless, there are different ways in which criticism can be delivered, and not all of them are necessarily need frustrating. Research has shown that even corrective feedback does not necessarily forestall individuals' competence, provided it is communicated in an autonomy-supportive way. Several strategies are vital in this respect [61,91]. For instance, after task completion, mission control could solicit the astronauts' opinion about their performance instead of providing straightforward feedback and advice themselves. Further, mission control could ask permission to provide feedback, thereby creating a greater receptivity for the corrective feedback. In addition, the corrective feedback could be accompanied by a meaningful rationale so astronauts could come to fully understand the need for correction and change. Finally, the feedback would need to be sufficiently clear and informative so astronauts would understand clearly how to improve the situation, by preference and at their own pace.

Overall then, while positive feedback and stimulation is vital to guarantee competence need satisfaction and continued engagement, mission control will inevitably also provide corrective feedback. Their style of doing so may vary considerably though, with resultant implications for astronauts' experience of overall need satisfaction.

4.2. How to promote the beneficial effects of spaceflight?

From an SDT-perspective, the positive effects of spaceflight reported by astronauts can be explained as consequences of improved need satisfaction. Several actions can therefore be taken by mission control to safeguard these effects and harvest their benefits, such as (a) increasing the experience of competence through the provision of challenges and celebrations, (b) creating the possibilities for astronauts to personalize their stay in space so as to experience a feeling of autonomy and (c) securing a strong connection with Earth to satisfy a sense of relatedness. To conclude, we discuss possible individual differences in need satisfaction, and how these could potentially influence crew selection.

4.2.1. Challenges and celebrations

When reviewing the experimental study by Ihle, Ritsher and Kanas [26,27], it becomes evident that many of the subscales that were used to evaluate the positive effects of spaceflight yield a reference to the satisfaction of the need for competence. The subscale of new possibilities ("New opportunities are available which would not have been otherwise") and personal strength ("I know better I can handle difficulties") reflect a feeling of competence that is being satisfied by successfully completing such an ambitious endeavor. The space environment provides new challenges and situations in which the astronaut can discover new talents and develop new capabilities. In fact, the whole idea of salutogenesis as presented by Suedfeld [17] can be regarded as a redefinition of the satisfaction of the need for competence: the ability to cope with stressors and conceive them as challenges providing an opportunity to exercise competence and mastery. The importance astronauts attach to space traditions and celebrations [29] can be regarded as an intense experience of competence that is being acted out during a ceremony. Celebrating the successful completion of a difficult task such as an EVA or a record of a hundred days in space helps to boost their vigor and many astronauts have emphasized the importance of these rituals. Traditions and celebrations may therefore be actively encouraged by mission control. For a Mars mission, festivities can be simultaneously celebrated on Earth and recordings of these events could be exchanged between mission control and the flight crew.

4.2.2. Personalization of space

As has been previously discussed, experiencing a sense of autonomy can be challenging for astronauts in a space environment. At the same time, having leisure time and being able to execute *personalized routines* was repeatedly reported as a key path towards well-being by many astronauts. As astronauts are often subjected to bureaucratic rules and are subjected to ongoing monitoring from mission control, leisure activities allow one to temporarily get away from these pressures and to recharge one's batteries. As leisure time activities are often intrinsically motivated, that is, executed out of inherent enjoyment, they are accompanied with a sense of volition. Reports show considerable variability in favorite leisure activities and demonstrate the importance of personalizing leisure time, according to the astronaut's own interests. Likewise, making daily activities fun can be regarded as an attempt by the crew to achieve a sense of volition. Therefore, mission control should make sure astronaut's leisure time is respected, and the possibility to personalize leisure times should be guaranteed. For Mars missions, a possible change in preferences and interests in certain leisure activities may be taken into consideration.

4.2.3. Connection with Earth

A stronger appreciation for the Earth and space, and stronger relationship with family members [26,27] are indicative of the nourishment of the need for relatedness. Presumably, when flying in an aluminum tube 400 km above the Earth's surface, astronauts are both physically and psychologically taking a more observing perspective. which allows them to connect more deeply with humankind, nature, and the universe in general. Indeed, almost all astronauts reported an increased appreciation for the Earth's beauty, along with more involvement in environmental causes. These results are in accordance with studies suggesting that natural environments increase valuing of intrinsic aspirations and vitality because natural environments create experiences fostering autonomy and relatedness with nature [80]. It seems as if the space environment and the views of Earth have a similar beneficial effect on astronauts, orienting them towards intrinsic goals and nurturing a sense of universalism and community (see Fig. 1). It is possible that the views of Earth encourage introspection and a more mindful stance, which foster autonomy and relatedness, and subsequently the valuing of intrinsic aspirations [92,93]. This increased valuing of intrinsic aspirations is something that may be further encouraged and exploited, as several studies found intrinsic aspirations to be conducive to individuals' psychological well-being [70,94].

While Mars missions may constitute an opportunity for improved autonomy and competence satisfaction, this may not be the case for relatedness. Due to the distance between Earth and Mars and the associated communication delay, direct contact with loved ones, a crucial factor for individuals' psychological well-being [29], will no longer be possible. Of course, the crew can still relv on email and possibly video recordings to keep in touch with friends and families, and they will still have each other to rely on for emotional support. However the potential frustration from such a situation is not to be underestimated, as feelings of loneliness may be more likely to surface. Indeed, based on SDT, one can predict that social isolation and the lack of intimate human relationships might constitute the major risk of a Mars mission. Therefore, more research should be performed and more countermeasures should be developed to take on this particular issue. Mission controls primary focus could therefore be to assure a strong connection with Earth. through optimizing communication between the crew and their loved ones. Regular updates on important news, political changes, and sport events - depending on the crew's interests - could be sent to the crew, as well as frequent inquiries regarding their well-being. An increased reliance on computers to assess the crew's cognitive state and to present prevention and intervention information, as has been proposed by some space experts [16], might induce an opposite effect than intended. It could restrict the crew in their sense of relatedness, as having to entrust one's personal feelings to a machine might actually induce a sense of isolation and loneliness.

4.2.4. Individual differences

The study by Ihle, Ritsher and Kanas [26,27] also highlighted substantial individual differences in the positive effects of spaceflight. According to SDT, the satisfaction of the needs for relatedness, competence and autonomy should yield universal benefits. Yet, there could be substantial variation, that is, individual differences, in the way these needs are satisfied, a possibility also recognized within the Motive Disposition Perspective. For instance, a person who shows less change in perceptions of the Earth. might simply be less dependent upon a view of the Earth for relatedness need satisfaction. This person might benefit more from interpersonal interventions to feel connected to their loved ones. Although these issues would need to be empirically confirmed in future research, they can be taken into consideration when selecting a crew for a specific mission. If one profile is more adaptive or if each profile corresponds to different performance patterns, these should be taken into account when composing flight crews [26,27].

Although the positive reactions to spaceflight that have been described are considered to be desirable, it could be possible that those who have especially positive experiences in space may have a particular difficulty reintegrating with their family or other aspects of their social environment upon return [95]. Individual differences in the way needs are satisfied could therefore also be examined in relation to post-flight adjustment. How will astronauts who seek to overcome tremendous challenges react when they return and face the conditions of everyday life? Will they manage to adjust or rather go through a difficult transitional period, given the immense contrast between the participation in the greatest adventure of humanity and the everyday terrestrial concerns? Unfortunately, so far, very little is known about the individual differences in the way needs are satisfied. As previously mentioned, it appears that the benefits of need satisfaction are more pronounced for those with a greater strength of these needs, when implicit measures are used, but not for explicit measures of need strength. Overall, this topic deserves further research.

5. Conclusions

Although dozens of studies in space psychology have generated fascinating insights into the psychological environment of astronauts during missions, more systematic research is needed to fully understand the influences, mechanisms and consequences of the stressors and benefits of human spaceflight. Throughout this review, we hope to have shown that SDT is valuable framework that can be used to synthesize these findings, bring further conceptual clarity, and to offer a number of future research directions. The notion of the psychological needs for autonomy, competence and relatedness, the essential nutrients of growth, provides a deeper insight into the dynamics underlying diverse observed psychological phenomena, sheds a refreshing light on potential future psychological stressors for interplanetary travel, and allows for the formulation of possible countermeasures to alleviate these stressors as well as the formulation of measures to actualize the potential benefits. Yet, given that many of suggested (counter)measures are purely derived from the theory, research is needed to test their effectiveness. Thus, multiple challenges still await psychologists and researchers working in the area of human spaceflight.

References

- R.M. Ryan, E.L. Deci, The darker and brighter sides of human existence: basic psychological needs as a unifying concept, Psychol. Inq. 11 (2000) 319–338.
- [2] N. Kanas, D. Manzey, Space Psychology and Psychiatry, Kluwer, Dortrecht, 2008.
- [3] N. Kanas, G. Sandal, J. Boyd, V. Gushin, D. Manzey, R. North, G. Leon, P. Suedfeld, S. Bishop, E. Fiedler, N. Inoue, B. Johannes, D. Kealy, N. Kraft, I. Matsuzaki, D. Musson, L. Palinkas, V. Salnitskiy, W. Sipes, J. StusterJ. Wang, Psychology and culture during long-duration space missions, Acta Astronaut, 64 (2009) 659–677.
- [4] M. Vansteenkiste, C.P. Niemiec, B. Soenens, The development of the five mini-theories of self-determination theory: a historical overview, emerging trends, and future directions, in: T.C. Urdan, S.A. Karabenick (Eds.), Advances in Motivation and Achievement, v. 16A – The Decade Ahead: Theoretical Perspectives on Motivation and Achievement, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, London, 2010, pp. 105–165.
- [5] E.L. Deci, R.M. Ryan, Self-determination theory in health care and its relations to motivational interviewing: a few comments, Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 9 (2012).
- [6] M. Vansteenkiste, R.M. Ryan, On psychological growth and vulnerability: basic psychological need satisfaction and need frustration as a unifying principle, J. Psychother. Integr. 23 (2013) 263–280.
- [7] N. Weinstein, R.M. Ryan, A self-determination theory approach to understanding stress incursion and responses, Stress Health 27 (2013) 4–17.
- [8] A. Kalery, I. Sorokin, M. Tyurin, Human space exploration beyond the international space station: role of relations of human, machine and the "Earth", Acta Astronaut. 67 (2010) 925–933.
- [9] S. Krikalev, A. Kalery, I. Sorokin, Crew on the ISS: creativity or determinism, Acta Astronaut. 66 (2010) 68–78.

- [10] D. Manzey, Human mission to Mars: new psychological challenges and research issues, Acta Astronaut. 55 (2004) 781–790.
- [11] P.J. Johnson, D. Asmaro, P. Suedfeld, V. Gushin, Thematic content analysis of work-family interactions: retired cosmonauts' reflections, Acta Astronaut. 81 (2012) 306–317.
- [12] N. Kanas, Interpersonal issues in space: shuttle/Mir and beyond, Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 76 (2005) 126–134.
- [13] G.M. Sandal, H.H. Bye, Value diversity and crew relationships during a simulated space flight to Mars, Acta Astronaut. 114 (2015) 164–173.
 [14] P. Suedfeld, J. Brcic, P.J. Johnson, V. Gushin, Personal growth following
- Iong-duration spaceflight, Acta Astronaut. 79 (2012) 118–123.
 H. Hendricks, T. Mauroo, B. Van Spilbeeck, Het Ruimtedagboek van
- Frank De Winne: Dagelijks Leven in het ISS, Van Halewyck, Leuven, 2009.
- [16] B. Ehmann, L. Balázs, É. Fülöp, R. Hargitai, P. Kabai, B. Péley, T. Pólya, A. Vargha, J. László, Narrative psychological content analysis as a tool for psychological status monitoring of crews in isolated, confined and extreme settings, Acta Astronaut. 68 (2011) 1560–1566.
- [17] P. Suedfeld, Invulnerability, coping, salutogenesis, integration: four phases of space psychology, Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 7 (2005) 61–66.
- [18] A. Antonovsky, Health, Stress and Coping, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Franscisco, 1979.
- [19] B. Lindström, M. Eriksson, Salutogenesis, J. Epidemiol Community Health 59 (2005) 440–442.
- [20] P. Suedfeld, J. Brcic, Resolution of psychosocial crises associated with flying in space, Acta Astronaut. 69 (2011) 24–29.
- [21] P. Suedfeld, Space memoirs: value hierarchies before and after missions – a pilot study, Acta Astronaut. 58 (2006) 583–586.
- [22] P. Suedfeld, K. Legkaia, J. Brcic, Changes in the hierarchy of value references associated with flying in space, J. Personal. 78 (2010) 1411–1436.
- [23] A. Kjaergaard, G.R. Leon, N.C. Venables, B.A. Fink, Personality, personal values and growth in military special unit patrol teams operating in a polar environment, Mil. Psychol. 25 (2013) 13–22.
- [24] G.R. Leon, G.M. Sandal, E. Larsen, Human performance in polar environments, J. Environ. Psychol. 31 (2011) 353–360.
- [25] G.M. Sandal, H.H. Bye, F.J.R. van de Vijver, Personal values and crew compatibility: results from a 105 days simulated space mission, Acta Astronaut. 69 (2011) 141–149.
- [26] E. Ihle, J. Ritsher, N. Kanas, Positive psychological effects of space missions, Acta Astronaut. 57 (2005) 630–633.
- [27] E. Ihle, J. Ritsher, N. Kanas, Positive psychological outcomes of spaceflight: an empirical study, Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 77 (2006) 93–102.
- [28] R.G. Tedeschi, L.G. Calhoun, The posttraumatic growth inventory measuring the positive legacy of trauma, J. Trauma. Stress 9 (3) (1996) 455–471.
- [29] P. Johnson, The roles of NASA, U.S. astronauts and their families in long-duration missions, Acta Astronaut. 67 (2010) 561–571.
- [30] J. Brcic, I. Della-Rossa, Universalvalues of Canadian astronauts, Acta Astronaut. 80 (2012) 46–51.
- [31] E.L. Deci, R.M. Ryan, The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior, Psychol. Inq. 11 (2000) 227–268.
- [32] R.M. Ryan, R.L. Deci, M. Vansteenkiste, Autonomy and autonomy disturbances in self-development and psychopathology: research on motivation, attachment and clinical process, in: D. Cicchetti (Ed.), Developmental Psychopathology, Wiley, New York, 2016. (in press).
- [33] E.L. Deci, M. Vansteenkiste, Self-determination theory and basic need satisfaction: understanding human development in positive psychology, Ric. Psichol. 27 (2004) 17–34.
- [34] K.M. Sheldon, R.M. Ryan, Positive psychology and Self-Determination Theory: a natural interface, in: V.I. Chirkov, R.M. Ryan, K.M. Sheldon (Eds.), Human Autonomy in Cross-Cultural Context, Springer, New York, 2011, pp. 33–44.
- [35] J.W. Atkinson, Motives in Fantasy, Action and Society: A method of Assessment and Study, Van Nostrand, Princeton, NJ, 1958.
- [36] D.G. Winter, The Power Motive, The Free Press, New York, 1973.
- [37] J.C. Brunstein, G.W. Maier, Implicit and self-attributed motives to achieve: Two separate but interacting needs, J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 89 (2005) 205–222.
- [38] J. Schüler, V. Brandstatter, K.M. Sheldon, Do implicit motives and basic psychological needs interact to predict well-being and flow? Testing a universal hypothesis and a matching hypothesis, Motiv. Emot. 37 (2013) 480–495.
- [39] J. Schüler, K.M. Sheldon, S.M. Fröhlich, Implicit need for achievement moderates the relationship between felt competence and subsequent motivation, J. Res. Personal. 44 (2010) 1–12.

- [40] O.C. Schultheiss, J.A. Hale, Implicit motives modulate attentional orienting to facial expressions of emotion, Motiv. Emot. 31 (2007) 13–24.
- [41] B. Chen, M. Vansteekinste, W. Beyers, L. Boone, E.L. Deci, B. Duriez, W. Lens, L. Matos, A. Mouratidis, R.M. Ryan, K. Sheldon, B. Soenens, J. Van der Kaap-Deeder, S. Van Petegem, J. Verstuyf, Basic psychological need satisfaction, need frustration, and need strength across four cultures, Motiv. Emot. (2015) 216–236.
- [42] E.L. Deci, R.M. Ryan, M. Gagné, D.R. Leone, J. Usunov, B. P. Kornazheva, Need satisfaction, motivation, and well-being in the work organizations of a former eastern bloc country: a crosscultural study of self-determination, Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 27 (2001) 930–942.
- [43] S. Van Petegem, B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, W. Beyers, Rebels with a cause? Adolescent defiance from the perspective of reactance theory and self-determination theory, Child Dev. 86 (2015) 903–918.
- [44] A. Van den Broeck, M. Vansteenkiste, H. De Witte, W. Lens, Explaining the relationship between job characteristics, burnout, and engagement: the role of basic psychological need satisfaction, Work Stress 22 (2008) 277–294.
- [45] J. Van der Kaap-Deeder, M. Vansteenkiste, J. De Houwer, B. Soenens, B.L. Boone, Validating an implicit measure of competence need satisfaction, 2016 Manuscript submitted for publication.
- [46] I. Ahmad, M. Vansteenkiste, B. Soenens, The relations of Arab Jordanian adolescents' perceived maternal parenting to teacher-rated adjustment and problems: the intervening role of perceived need satisfaction, Dev. Psychol. 49 (2013) 177–183.
- [47] E.L. Deci, R. Koestner, R.M. Ryan, A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards in intrinsic motivation, Psychol. Bull. 125 (1999) 627–668.
- [48] J. Reeve, C.M. Tseng, Cortisol reactivity to a teacher's motivating style: the biology of being controlled versus supporting autonomy, Motiv. Emot. 35 (2011) 63–74.
- [49] K.D. Ciani, K.M. Sheldon, J.C. Hilpert, M.A. Easter, Antecedents and trajectories of achievement goals: a self-determination theory perspective, Br. J. Educ. Psychol. 81 (2011) 223–243.
- [50] J. Hofer, H. Busch, Satisfying one's needs for competence and relatedness: consequent domain-specific well-being depends on strength of implicit motive, Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 37 (2011) 1147–1158.
- [51] J. Schüler, M. Wegner, B. Knechtle, Implicit motives and basic need satisfaction in extreme endurance sports, J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 36 (2014) 293–302.
- [52] K.M. Sheldon, V. Filak, Manipulating autonomy, competence, and relatedness support in a game-learning context: new evidence that all three needs matter, Br. J. Soc. Psychol. 47 (2008) 267–283.
- [53] M. Vansteenkiste, E.L. Deci, Competitively contingent rewards and intrinsic motivation: can losers remain motivated? Motiv. Emot. 27 (2003) 273–299.
- [54] M.E. Enzle, S.C. Anderson, Surveillant intentions and intrinsic motivation, J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 64 (1993) 257–266.
- [55] A. Mouratidis, M. Vansteenkiste, W. Lens, S. Georgios, The motivating role of positive feedback in sport and physical education: evidence for a motivational model, J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 30 (2008) 240–268.
- [56] E.A. Patall, H. Cooper, S.R. Wynn, the effectiveness and relative importance of choice in the classroom, J. Educ. Psychol. 102 (2010) 896–915.
- [57] M. Vansteenkiste, W. Lens, Intrinsic versus extrinsic goal contents in self-determination theory: another look at the quality of academic motivation, Educ. Psychol. 41 (2006) 19–31.
- [58] E.L. Deci, Intrinsic Motivation, Plenum, New York, 1975.
- [59] M. Gagné, E.L. Deci, Self-determination theory and work motivation, J. Occup. Behav. 26 (2005) 331–362.
- [60] E.A. Patall, H. Cooper, J.C. Robinson, The effects of choice on intrinsic motivation and related outcomes: a meta-analysis of research findings, Psychol. Bull. 134 (2008) 270–300.
- [61] A. Mouratidis, W. Lens, M. Vansteenkiste, How you provide corrective feedback makes a difference: the motivating role of communicating in an autonomy-supporting way, J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32 (2010) 619–637.
- [62] J. Reeve, H.S. Jang, What teachers say and do to support students' autonomy during a learning activity, J. Educ. Psychol. 98 (2006) 209–218.
- [63] R.M. Ryan, E.L. Deci, Self-regulation and the problem of human autonomy: does psychology need choice, self-determination, and will? J. Personal. 74 (2006) 1557–1586.
- [64] M. Vansteenkiste, B. Soenens, S. Van Petegem, B. Duriez, Longitudinal associations between adolescent perceived degree and style

of parental prohibition and internalization and defiance, Dev. Psychol. 50 (2014) 229–236.

- [65] R.M. Ryan, J.H. Lynch, Emotional autonomy versus detachment revisiting the vicissitudes of adolescence and young adulthood, Child. Dev. 60 (1989) 340–356.
- [66] B. Chen, M. Vansteenkiste, W. Beyers, B. Soenens, S. Van Petegem, Autonomy in family decision making for Chinese adolescents: disentangling the dual meaning of autonomy, J. Cross-Cult. Psychol. 44 (2013) 1184–1209.
- [67] S. Van Petegem, W. Beyers, M. Vansteenkiste, B. Soenens, On the association between adolescent autonomy and psychosocial functioning: examining decisional independence from a Selfdetermination Theory perspective, Dev. Psychol. 48 (2012) 76–88.
- [68] T. Kasser, R.M. Ryan, Further examining the American dream: differential correlates of intrinsic and extrinsic goals, Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 22 (1996) 280–287.
- [69] S.H. Schwartz, Universalism values and the inclusiveness of our moral universe, J. Cross-Cult. Psychol. 38 (2007) 711–728.
- [70] C.P. Niemiec, R.M. Ryan, E.L. Deci, The path taken: consequences of attaining intrinsic and extrinsic aspirations in post-college life, J. Res. Personal. 43 (2009) 291–306.
- [71] W. Unanue, H. Dittmar, V. Vignoles, M. Vansteenkiste, Materialism and well-being in the UK and Chile: basic need satisfaction and basic need frustration as underlying psychological processes, Eur. J. Personal. 28 (2014) 569–585.
- [72] T. Kasser, A. Ahuvia, Materialistic values and well-being in business students, Eur. J. Soc. Psychol. 32 (2002) 137–146.
- [73] T. Kasser, R.M. Ryan, M. Zax, A.J. Sameroff, The relations of maternal and social environments to late adolescents materialistic and prosocial values, Dev. Psychol. 31 (1995) 907–914.
- [74] G.C. Williams, E.M. Cox, V.A. Hedberg, E.L. Deci, Extrinsic life goals and health-risk behaviours in adolescents, J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 30 (2000) 1756–1771.
- [75] K.M. Sheldon, T. Kasser, Psychological threat and extrinsic goal striving, Motiv. Emot. 32 (2008) 37–45.
- [76] L.C. Chang, R.M. Arkin, Materialism as an attempt to cope with uncertainty, Psychol. Mark. 19 (2002) 389–406.
- [77] T. Kasser, R. Koestner, N. Lekes, Early family experiences and adult values: a 26-year, prospective longitudinal study, Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 28 (2002) 826–835.
- [78] N. Lekes, I. Gingras, F.L. Philippe, F. Koestner, J. Fang, Parental autonomy-support, intrinsic life goals, and well-being among adolescents in China and North America, J. Youth Adolesc. 39 (2010) 858–869.
- [79] R.M. Ryan, N. Weinstein, J. Bernstein, K.W. Brown, L. Mistretta, M. Gagné, Vitalizing effects of being outdoors and in nature, J. Environ. Psychol. 30 (2010) 159–168.
- [80] N. Weinstein, A.K. Przybylski, R.M. Ryan, Can nature make us more caring? Effects of immersion in nature on intrinsic aspirations and generosity, Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 35 (2009) 1315–1329.
- [81] K.M. Sheldon, R.M. Ryan, E.L. Deci, T. Kasser, The independent effects of goal contents and motives in well-being: it's both what you pursue and why you pursue it, Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 30 (2004) 475–486.
- [82] H. Dittmar, R. Bond, M. Hurst, T. Kasser, The relationship between materialism and personal well-being: a meta-analysis, J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 107 (2014) 879–924.
- [83] J. Reeve, G. Nix, D. Hamm, Testing models of the experience of selfdetermination in intrinsic motivation and the conundrum of choice, J. Educ. Psychol. 95 (2003) 375–392.
- [84] N. Kanas, S. Saylor, M. Harris, T. Neylan, J. Boyd, D. Weiss, P. Baskin, C. Cook, C. Marmar, High versus low crewmember autonomy in space simulation environments, Acta Astronaut. 67 (2010) 731–738.
- [85] P.G. Roma, S.R. Hursh, R.D. Hienz, H.H. Emurian, E.D. Gasior, Z.S. Brinson, J.V. Brady, Behavioural and biological effects of autonomous versus scheduled mission management in simulated spacedwelling groups, Acta Astronaut. 68 (2011) 1581–1588.
- [86] V. Chirkov, R.M. Ryan, Y. Kim, Differentiating autonomy from individualism and independence: a self-determination theory perspective on internalization of cultural orientations and well-being, J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 84 (2003) 97–110.
- [87] N. Kanas, M. Harris, T. Neylan, J. Boyd, D. Weiss, C. Cook, S. Saylor, High versus low crewmember autonomy in a 105-day Mars simulation mission, Acta Astronaut. 69 (2011) 240–244.
- [88] R.W. Plant, R.M. Ryan, Intrinsic motivation and the effects of selfconsciousness, self-awareness, and ego-involvement – an investigation of internally controlling styles, J. Personal. 53 (1985) 435–449.
- [89] E.L. Deci, R.M. Ryan, The general causality orientations scale selfdetermination in personality, J. Res. Personal. 19 (1985) 109–134.

- [90] E.L. Deci, R. Koestner, R.M. Ryan, a meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards in intrinsic motivation, Psychol. Bull. 125 (1999) 627–668.
- [91] G.A. Mageau Carpentier, When change-oriented feedback enhances motivation, well-being and performance: a look at autonomysupportive feedback in sport, Psychol. Sport Exerc. 14 (2013)
- 423-435[92] K.W. Brown, R.M. Ryan, The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being, J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 84 (2003) 822-848.
- [93] K.W. Brown, R.M. Ryan, Are psychological and ecological well-being compatible? The role of values, mindfulness, and lifestyle, Soc. Indic. Res. 74 (2005) 349-368.
- [94] M. Vansteenkiste, B. Duriez, J. Simons, B. Soenens, Materialistic
- values and well-being among business students: further evidence of their detrimental effect, J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 36 (2006) 2892–2908.
 [95] J. Ritsher, N. Kanas, E. Ihle, S.A. Saylor, Psychological adaptation and salutogenesis in space: lessons from a series of studies, Acta Astronaut. 60 (2007).
- [96] B. Soenens, M. Vansteenkiste, A theoretical upgrade of the concept of parental psychological control: proposing new insights on the basis of self-determination theory, Dev. Rev. 30 (2010) 74–99.